THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellant Panel of the Full Commission

WCC Number: 1413546
Appellate Case No.: 2018-002283

Timothy A. McDuffie, Employee, Respondent,

v.

Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer,
and

Great American Alliance Insurance Co./Strategic Comp., Carrier,.....Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Benjamin M. Renfrow, Esquire
SC Bar No. 71245
Willson, Jones, Carter, & Baxley, PA
872 S. Pleasantburg Drive
Greenville, SC 29607
(864) 527-3296
Attorney for Appellants

RECEIVED
SEP 16 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN AFFIRMING DR. HUTCHESON AS THE AUTHORIZED TREATING PHYSICIAN AS NEITHER "GOOD CAUSE" NOR SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS ESTABLISHED TO WARRANT A DESIGNATION OF A TREATING PHYSICIAN?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent sustained a compensable injury to his back on or about September 19, 2014 when he tripped over an exposed pipe at the Employer's facility located in Richland County, South Carolina. On June 12, 2015, the Respondent filed a Form 50, hearing request, alleging an additional injury to his left leg and entitlement to further medical treatment for his left leg and back conditions. Accordingly, on July 10, 2015, the Appellants filed a Form 51, denying the Respondent's need for additional medical care and treatment.

On October 29, 2015, a hearing was held before Commissioner Aisha Taylor (hereinafter "Single Commissioner") to determine the issues as outlined in the parties' pleadings, among other things. The Single Commissioner considered testimony from the Respondent and several medical providers and reviewed the medical evidence submitted by the respective parties.

Following the hearing, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order, dated May 16, 2016, whereby she found, in relevant part:

- (1) Defendants "accept financial responsibility for treatment of Mr. McDuffie's lumbar facet syndrome through *an appropriate specialist of its choosing*, who shall provide treatment for this condition as a causally related result of Mr. McDuffie's compensable accident" [emphasis added];
- (2) Treatment of the left knee injury component would be provided by Dr. Christopher Mazoue; [and]
- (3) The Claimant is entitled to treatment for the compensable back injury component, including, but not limited to, the lumbar facet/medial branch blocks identified by these physicians.

Pursuant to the Single Commissioner's Order, the Employer and its Carrier, Great American Alliance Insurance Company (hereinafter collectively "Appellants"), acknowledged the compensability of Respondent's back injury and subsequently authorized Respondent's receipt of

certain medical treatment through several providers, including Drs. Michael W. Peele of Moore Orthopaedics and Stewart Young of First Care.

On June 1, 2016, Appellants filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review, appealing the May 16, 2016 Order of the Single Commissioner upon several grounds, including, in pertinent part, the Single Commissioner's error in appointing Dr. Mazoue as the authorized treating physician given the Appellants' right to direct medical care and treatment pursuant to Section 42-15-60(a) of the South Carolina Code of Laws.

A hearing was held before the Full Commission Appellate Panel on August 16, 2016. By Order, dated October 12, 2016, the Appellate Panel affirmed the Single Commissioner's factual findings and conclusions of law and ordered the Appellants, in relevant part, to:

- (a) Accept financial responsibility for all medical modalities previously provided/prescribed by any authorized healthcare specialists, as well as for the charges stemming from Dr. Mazoue's June 10, 2015 evaluation;
- (b) Authorized the additional causally related medical treatment, medications, evaluations, diagnostic testing, evaluative procedures, physical therapy, surgical procedures, etc. provided/prescribed by Dr. Mazoue, who is hereby designated as Mr. McDuffie's treating physician relative to the left knee injury component for the purposes of this claim;
- (c) Accept financial responsibility for treatment of Mr. McDuffie's lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome through an appropriate specialist of its choosing, who shall provide treatment for this condition as a causally related result of Mr. McDuffie's compensable accident; [and]
- (d) Provide treatment for the compensable back injury component including, but not limited to the lumbar facet/medial branch block injections identified by physicians.

Pursuant to the Appellate Panel's October 12, 2016 Order, Appellants arranged for Nurse Case Manager, Michelle Estep, to schedule an appointment for Respondent with Dr. Karl Lozanne, neurosurgeon, of Midlands Orthopaedic and Neurosurgery. Respondent's counsel was notified via e-mail correspondence on January 2, 2018 of the Respondent's January 12, 2018 evaluation

with Dr. Lozanne. Thereafter, Respondent's counsel refused to allow the Respondent to attend the appointment with Dr. Lozanne, and by Motion dated January 11, 2018, sought to quash Appellants' directive of medical care for Respondent's back injury with Dr. Lozanne. Respondent's counsel further requested designation of Dr. J. Kelby Hutcheson, a pain management physician, as the authorized treating physician. Specifically, Respondent's counsel contended the Appellants had been instructed to provide specific treatment, including injections, but that Dr. Lozanne refused to perform the injections as he was a neurosurgeon. Respondent's counsel failed to recognize that Dr. Lozanne's practice is one of the most comprehensive practices in the State and even if Dr. Lozanne could not personally administer the injections, one of his partners could certainly do so.

On January 22, 2018, Appellants responded to Respondent's Motion to Quash and maintained that the appointment with Dr. Lozanne was scheduled for evaluation and current recommendations for treatment in furtherance of the directives of the Appellate Panel and given Respondent's gap in treatment since 2016. Moreover, Appellants asked for this Commission to compel Respondent's attendance to the evaluation with Dr. Lozanne, so that the Respondent's current medical condition could be assessed and a determination could be made for what additional medical care and treatment is needed. Furthermore, Appellants contended that the evaluation with Dr. Lozanne was not inconsistent with the Appellate Panel's Order nor was it an attempt to circumvent obligations, as Respondent's counsel insinuated, but rather was an effort to fulfill certain responsibilities under the rulings prescribed by the October 12, 2016 Order.

A hearing on the motions was held on February 6, 2018 in Columbia, South Carolina before Commissioner Avery Wilkerson, Jr. (hereinafter "Hearing Commissioner"). Although the hearing was not placed on the record, upon information and belief, the Hearing Commissioner received

oral argument from both parties and reviewed the relevant portions of the Commission's claim file.

By Order, dated March 13, 2018, the Hearing Commissioner granted Respondent's Motion to Quash and, furthermore, designated Dr. J. Kelby Hutcheson of Carolinas Center for the Advanced Management of Pain as the Respondent's treating physician. On March 27, 2018, Appellants filed a Form 30, Request for Commission Review, and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 19, 2014, Respondent sustained compensable injuries to his back and left leg when he tripped over an exposed pipe while working at Johnson Food Services, LLC. (R. p. 74). On September 20, 2014, Appellants directed the Respondent to MedCare Urgent Care Center where he was assessed for back and left leg pain. (R. pp. 41-42). Appellants then directed Respondent for an evaluation with Dr. Stewart Young of First Care who assessed the Respondent for "pain in the left thigh musculature with weightbearing/walking" and "tenderness over the MCL area." Dr. Young further placed the Respondent on sedentary duty work status. (R. p. 42; see R. p. 74).

Thereafter, Appellants directed Respondent for additional evaluation and treatment by Dr. Michael W. Peelle of Moore Orthopaedics on December 17, 2014. Dr. Peelle assessed the Respondent for his September 19, 2014 tripping injury, including resulting pain in the back, left buttock, left thigh, and left leg and offered a diagnosis of left lower extremity radiculopathy. (R. pp. 43-44; see R. pp. 74-75). During a visit on December 31, 2014, Dr. Peelle released the Respondent to return to full duty work effective January 5, 2015. Id.

After that time, Respondent sought independent, further evaluation from Dr. Ezra B. Riber of Palmetto Pain Management, LLC, Dr. Nancy R. Lembo of Carolina Spine and Sport

Rehabilitation Specialists, P.A., and Dr. John F. Johnson of Southeastern Spine Institute. (R. p. 75). Upon review of the Respondent's testimony and the opinions expressed by these physicians, including deposition testimony, this Commission concluded that "these medical specialists also convincingly verified/explained the positive correlation between their diagnosis of posttraumatic facet syndrome with not only his relevant clinical findings (including diminished lumbar extension), but also he September 19, 2014 mechanism of injury" and established the need for treatment aimed toward a diagnosis proximately resulting from the September 19, 2014 accident at work as the Respondent had not yet reached maximum medical improvement. (R. p. 75). This Commission further opined that "(d) the treatment he requires for this compensable back injury component includes, *but is not limited to*, the lumbar facet/medial branch blocks identified by these physicians; and (e) Mr. McDuffie's receipt of these additional treatment modalities for his back injury component is reasonable [and] medically necessary" [emphasis added]. (R. pp. 75-76).

In addition, the Commission ordered that Appellants shall "accept financial responsibility for treatment of Mr. McDuffie's lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome *through an appropriate specialist of its choosing*, who shall provide treatment for this condition as a causally related result of Mr. McDuffie's compensable accident" [emphasis added]. (R. p. 76).

Appellants arranged for Nurse Case Manager, Michelle Estep, to schedule an appointment for Respondent with Dr. Karl Lozanne, neurosurgeon, of Midlands Orthopaedic and Neurosurgery, and on January 2, 2018, Respondent's counsel was notified via e-mail correspondence of the Respondent's January 12, 2018 evaluation with Dr. Lozanne. (R. p. 77). Thereafter, Respondent's counsel refused to allow the Respondent to attend the appointment with Dr. Lozanne, and by Motion dated January 11, 2018, sought to quash Appellants' directive of medical care for

Respondent's back injury with Dr. Lozanne. Respondent's counsel further requested designation of Dr. J. Kelby Hutcheson, a pain management physician, as the authorized treating physician.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). In workers' compensation cases, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier of fact. Hunter v. Patrick Construction Co., 289 S.C. 46, 344 S.E.2d 613 (1986). The appellate court's review of these findings of fact is limited to determining whether the findings are clearly unsupported by substantial evidence in the record. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981); Howell v. Pacific Columbia Mills, 291 S.C. 469, 354 S.E.2d 384 (1987). The appellate court is not permitted to re-weigh the evidence and substitute its own findings of fact for those of the Commission. Brown v. Jordan Oil Co., 291 S.C. 272, 353 S.E.2d 280 (1987). An appellate court can reverse or modify the Commission's decision if it is affected by an error of law or clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record. Fishburne v. ATI Systems Intern., 384 S.C. 76, 681 S.E.2d 595 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380).

A reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of an agency if the findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions of that agency are "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(e) (2005). Under the scope of review established in the Administrative Procedures Act, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 611 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 2005);

Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App. 2004); Stephen v. Avins Constr. Co., 324 S.C. 334, 478 S.E.2d 74 (Ct. App. 1996); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(d) (2005).

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN AFFIRMING DR. HUTCHESON AS THE AUTHORIZED TREATING PHYSICIAN AS NEITHER "GOOD CAUSE" NOR SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS ESTABLISHED TO WARRANT A DESIGNATION OF A TREATING PHYSICIAN.

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission erred in affirming Dr. Hutcheson as the authorized treating physician as neither "good cause" nor sufficient evidence was established to warrant a designation of a treating physician. More specifically, this case does not represent a situation contemplated under §42-15-60. Section 42-15-60(A) provides:

The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In addition to it, the original artificial members as reasonably may be necessary must be provided by the employer. During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. The refusal of an employee to accept any medical, hospital, surgical, or other treatment or evaluation when provided by the employer or ordered by the commission bars the employee from further compensation until the refusal ceases and compensation is not paid for the period of refusal unless in the opinion of the commission the circumstances justified the refusal, in which case the commission may order a chance in medical or hospital service. If in an emergency, on account of the employer's failure to provide the medical care as specified in this section, a physician other than provided by the employer is called to treat the

employee, the reasonable cost of the service must be paid by the employer, if ordered by the commission.

In the instant case, the Appellants directed medical treatment in an adequate manner and in accordance with the directives of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, as such, the exception articulated in the statutory language of § 42-15-60 is inapplicable. In good faith, Appellants authorized and scheduled an evaluation of Respondent and arranged for a comprehensive opinion by Dr. Lozanne to determine the Respondent's current medical condition and further necessary medical care and treatment needed in compliance with the directives of the October 12, 2016 Order. Due to the fact that Respondent's counsel prohibited Respondent from attending the evaluation with Dr. Lozanne and the Hearing Commissioner granted Respondent's Motion to Quash, it is mere speculation to suggest that the potential treatment plan suggested by Dr. Lozanne fails to constitute treatment of the Respondent's lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome.

Furthermore, there is no tangible evidence available to suggest that Dr. Lozanne's evaluation and treatment of the Respondent would not tend to lessen the Respondent's period of disability. Rather, this notion that Dr. Lozanne, an experienced neurosurgeon, would be unable to personally treat the Respondent's posttraumatic facet syndrome is not fact, but conjecture on the part of Respondent's counsel. Moreover, Respondent's counsel assumes that a pain management physician, and not a neurosurgeon who specializes in the diagnosis and treatment of the spine, is better suited to treat the Respondent's lumbar injury. There is no evidence available and none represented by the Respondent that establishes Dr. Hutcheson is in some way more qualified to evaluate the Respondent than Dr. Lozanne. It should be noted that Dr. Lozanne is part of one of the most comprehensive and well-respected practices in our State and has almost every conceivable specialist within his practice, to not only provide surgery, but also administer

comprehensive injections and treat with various methods of pain management, as required by the Workers' Compensation Commission.

Implicit in our Courts' characterization of the Appellants' ability to direct medical treatment as a right, is the requirement that Respondent must make some showing that there is a justification for extinguishing that right. Without such a requirement, Appellants' right to direct medical treatment would be completely eviscerated and essentially meaningless. Specifically, case law provides that where it deems necessary, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission may "override the employer's choice of providers and order a change in the medical or hospital service provided" stipulating that "good cause" is to be established by the employee. Clark v. Aiken County of Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 104 (Ct. App. 2005); see Gattis v. Murrell's Inlet VFW #10420, 353 S.C. 100, 576 S.E.2d 191, 197-98 (Ct. App. 2003); Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E.2d 547, 555 (Ct. App. 2006). The record in this matter is devoid of any such "good cause" or justification prompting the Commission to "override" Appellants' choice of care provider. The treatment authorized with Dr. Lozanne was adequate and directed toward providing Respondent relief and aimed at tending to lessen the period of disability resulting from the initial injury. Respondent certainly cannot and did not carry his burden in establishing that treatment by Dr. Hutcheson will somehow lessen the Respondent's period of disability. Given this consideration, the only justification that remains for Respondent's selection of Dr. Hutcheson is based upon Respondent's mere preference of physician.

If Respondent is permitted to undergo evaluation and subsequent treatment with Dr. Hutcheson pursuant to his preference and absent evidence somehow establishing that care under Dr. Hutcheson will yield a better result than with Dr. Lozanne, the case and statutory law relevant in conferring a right in Appellants to direct medical treatment is thwarted in its entirety. Had

Appellants sent the Respondent to Dr. Lozanne and he failed to provide treatment that was ordered or necessary, the Respondent would have a much more compelling argument. But this attorney never allowed the Respondent to even attend the appointment with Dr. Lozanne and thus to argue his treatment was inconsistent with the Order of the Commission, or was inadequate, is simply wrong. Accordingly, Appellants right to direct medical treatment cannot be disturbed on these grounds.

Respondent's counsel represents that this Court has recognized the Commission is vested with the authority to designate a treating physician in accordance with its assessment of an individual's particular medical needs. Gattis v. Murrell's Inlet, VFW, 353 S.C. 100, 576 S.E. 2d 191, 198 (Ct. App. 2003). ("Where it deems it necessary, the . . . [C]ommission may override an employer's choice of medical provider. . . ."); See also, Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E. 2d 547, 555 (Ct. App. 2006). The cases represented above and relied upon by Respondent's counsel and the Commission illustrate factual situations where an employer failed to provide treatment. Such a scenario is not representative of the facts in this case. Rather, here, Appellants have provided treatment for Respondent's back injury with a specialist who is simply not preferred by Respondent's attorney. Interestingly, Respondent's counsel made reference to Dr. Hutcheson, and his desire for Dr. Hutcheson to be a treating physician in an earlier hearing with Commission Taylor. (R. pp. 115-116).

Moreover, certainly, this is not the type of controversy contemplated by the statute. Nor is this situation one of emergency thereby requiring intervention of this Commission to order and designate medical care by a particular provider – especially not a provider hand selected by Respondent's attorney. Unlike an emergency, sudden change, or complication to one's condition, which might necessitate care before authorization could have reasonably been sought and obtained,

Respondent's treatment for his back injury has been ongoing for years. Here, where the Respondent seeks to select a different treating physician for an ongoing, non-emergent course of treatment, a statutory exception does not apply.

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