THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner  
Melody L. James, Commissioner  
Susan S. Barden, Commissioner

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1413546

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2018-002283

---

**RECEIVED**  
SFP 27 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Timothy A. McDuffie, Employee, .....RESPONDENT.

v.

Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Co./  
Strategic Comp., Carrier, .....APPELLANTS.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

---

Andrew N. Safran  
Post Office Box 12089  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 256-6689  
Attorney for Respondent

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSIONS'/APPELLATE PANEL'S DETERMINATION MR. MCDUFFIE HAD ESTABLISHED "GOOD CAUSE" PER S.C. CODE ANN. SECTION 42-15-60 (2015) FOR DESIGNATION OF DR. J. KELBY HUTCHESON AS HIS TREATING PHYSICIAN IS WHOLLY SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF RECORD.

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard for judicial review of decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission." Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 628 S.E. 2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006); Tims v. J.D. Kitts Construction, 393 S.C. 496, 713 S.E. 2d 340, 343 (Ct. App. 2011). In the absence of legal error, a reviewing court will only reverse or modify the Commission's factual findings or ultimate decision if it is "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." South Carolina Second Injury Fund v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 353 S.C. 117, 576 S.E. 2d 199, 202 (Ct. App. 2003); Turner v. SAIIA Construction, 419 S.C. 98, 796 S.E. 2d 150, 154 (Ct. App. 2016). When reviewing the record, the Court "will not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel[Commission] . . . as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." Robbins v. Walgreens and Broadspire Services, Inc., 375 S.C. 259, 652 S.E. 2d (Ct. App. 2007); Thomas v. 5 Star Transportation, 412 S.C. 1, 770 S.E. 2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2015).

"The substantial evidence rule of the Administrative Procedures Act governs the standard of review in a workers' compensation decision." Jeffrey v. Sunshine Recycling, 386 S.C. 174, 687 S.E. 2d 332, 334 (Ct. App. 2009); Hamilton v. Martin Color-Fi, Inc., 405 S.C. 478, 748 S.E. 2d 76, 79 (Ct. App. 2013). This rule limits the Court's review "to deciding whether the

commission's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law." White v. Medical University of South Carolina, 355 S.C. 560, 586 S.E. 2d 157, 159 (Ct. App. 2003); Ardis v. Combined Insurance Company, 380 S.C. 313, 669 S.E. 2d 628, 632 (Ct. App. 2008).

" 'Substantial evidence' is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action." Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 136, 276 S.E. 2d 304, 306 (1981); Gibson v. Spartanburg School District No. 3, 338 S.C. 510, 526 S.E. 2d 725, 729 (Ct. App. 2000). In this connection, "[t]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." Pearson v. JPS Converter & Industrial Corp., 327 S.C. 393, 489 S.E. 2d 219, 221 (Ct. App. 1997); Clade v. Champion Laboratories, 330 S.C. 8, 496 S.E. 2d 856 (1998). Where they are reflective of reasonable and accurate assessment of the underlying circumstances, "the findings of fact of the . . . commission," as triers of fact, "are conclusive." Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center, 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E. 2d 526, 528 (2001); Watt v. Piedmont Automotive, 384 S.C. 203, 681 S.E. 2d 615, 620 (Ct. App. 2009).

Given this deferential standard of review, the "findings of . . . [the Appellate Panel] are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence." Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 571 S.E.2d 92, 95 (Ct. App. 2002); Fragosa v. Kade Construction, LLC, 407 S.C. 424, 755 S.E. 2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2013). Consequently, ". . . [a] reviewing court should affirm a decision by the commission unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record." Youmans v. Coastal Petroleum Co., 333 S.C. 195,

508 S.C. 2d 43, 45 (Ct. App. 1998); Brunson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 344 S.C. 107, 542 S.E. 2d 732, 733 (Ct. App. 2001).

**B. APPELLANTS' ATTEMPTS TO CIRCUMVENT OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED BY OCTOBER 12, 2016 ORDER, RATHER THAN PROVIDE SPECIFIED TREATMENT, CONSTITUTED "GOOD CAUSE" FOR COMMISSION DESIGNATION OF TREATING PHYSICIAN.**

Although they initially appealed certain elements of the Panel's Order, Appellants did not contest the fundamental determinations relative to Mr. McDuffie's back injury component, particularly: (a) "his need for non-surgical treatment . . . [that] includes, but is not limited to, the lumbar facet/medial branch blocks identified by" Drs. Johnson, Lembo and Riber; (b) "these specialists, who each regularly encounter facetogenic pain in their respective practices, likewise reliably *established his need* for previously unprovided facet-directed treatment"; (c) *their direction of his receipt of medical care was qualified* to the extent Appellants were simply "afforded the right to provide **treatment** for Mr. McDuffie's back injury component per Section 42-15-60, but strictly based upon the . . . [Commission's] ruling that Mr. McDuffie's diagnosed posttraumatic facet syndrome is causally related to the consequences of his compensable accident so as to ensure receipt of **treatment**"; and (d) this "**treatment**" of Mr. McDuffie's lumbar posttraumatic facet syndrome . . . [would be provided] through an appropriate specialist". (Original emphasis; Italics added). These findings/conclusions/rulings consequently constitute the law of this case. See, Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Center, 407 S.C. 112, 754 S.E. 2d 486, 490 (2012). See also, Wofford v. City of Spartanburg, 415 S.C. 152, 781 S.E. 2d 146, 149 (Ct. App. 2015) ("the unappealed ground will become the law of the case").

Additionally, inspection of Appellants' brief reveals: (a) they have not disputed the current Panel's finding "the treatment Defendants are obliged to provide does not involve

surgical intervention”; and (b) the absence of any legitimate need for surgical assessment cannot be properly disputed at this stage of the proceedings. See, Bochette v. Bochette, 300 S.C. 109, 386 S.E. 2d 475, 477 (Ct. App. 1989); McMillan v. McMillan, 417 S.C. 583, 790 S.E. 2d 216, 225 (Ct. App. 2016).

Given the unassailable vitality of the Commission’s determinations on these points, reasonable minds could (and did) find *Appellants were keenly aware*: (a) of their primary obligation to provide Mr. McDuffie with nonsurgical treatment, through performance of lumbar facet/medial branch blocks, in accordance with the recommendations of Drs. Johnson, Lembo and Riber; (b) this treatment *did not involve surgical intervention*; (c) their prior designee (Dr. Peelle, a surgeon) had *not only been unable to diagnose Mr. McDuffie’s causally related post-traumatic facet syndrome, but also declined to provide further treatment*; and (d) the attempt to direct Mr. McDuffie to yet another surgeon “for an *evaluation* and current recommendations for treatment *if any*” was materially inconsistent with the emphatic October 12, 2016 mandate to provide him with this “treatment”.

It is equally certain that upon considering these uncontroverted facts, the current Panel could reasonably find/conclude: (a) Appellants had been afforded ample time and opportunity to provide Mr. McDuffie with the required nonsurgical treatment; (b) their attempt to facilitate his return to Dr. Peelle was not indicative of a legitimate effort to comply with the October 12, 2016 Order; (c) demanding an “evaluation” by another *surgeon* “to determine what medical care is needed *if any*” simply did not mesh with a binding Order *compelling* their provision of this nonsurgical “treatment” and (d) Appellants’ persistent failure to provide this “treatment” was indicative of a rather obvious effort to circumvent the responsibilities imposed by the October 12, 2016 Order. (Original emphasis; Italics added).

As the Panel's determinations are not only reasonable, but amply supported by the substantial evidence of the record (January 11, 2018 motion exhibits, law of the this case embodied in the October 12, 2016 Order and admissions contained in Appellants' January 22, 2018 Response), it is respectfully submitted they should be affirmed.

Section 42-15-60 (A) grants the employer/carrier an opportunity to direct medical care "unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown." In this regard, it is axiomatic the Commission is empowered to "override the employer's choice of providers and order a change in the medical or hospital service provided" in the event a controversy arises between the parties and "good cause" for this designation is established by the employee. See, Carter v. Aiken County Government, 366 S.C. 102, 620 S.E. 2d 99, 104 (Ct. App. 2005); Hall v. United Rentals, 371 S.C. 69, 636 S.E. 2d 876, 885 (Ct. App. 2006).

This Court has likewise recognized the Commission is vested with authority to designate a treating physician in accordance with its assessment of an individual's particular medical needs. See, Gattis v. Murrell's Inlet, VFW, 353 S.C. 100, 576 S.E. 2d 191, 198 (Ct. App. 2003). ("Where it deems it necessary, the . . . [C]ommission may override an employer's choice of medical provider. . . ."; See also, Martin v. Rapid Plumbing, 369 S.C. 278, 631 S.E. 2d 547, 555 (Ct. App. 2006).

In this instance, Appellants: (a) unquestionably understood the nature of medical care they were obliged to provide Mr. McDuffie; (b) could have easily directed him to a nonsurgical specialist for receipt of the facet injections, as well as the incidental medical modalities envisioned by the October 12, 2016 Order; (c) purposely sought to avoid the legal implications of this Commission's rulings by their attempted surgical referrals, including an effort to return him to a physician who had already demonstrated an inability to recognize or treat the

posttraumatic facet syndrome; and (d) have admitted *a legally inappropriate motive* for the current referral, i.e. questioning *the need for “treatment” they have been instructed to provide.* (Original emphasis; Italics added).

Based upon these facts, the Panel: (a) correctly ruled Mr. McDuffie had established “good case” for its intervention in the direction of his medical care; and (b) properly exercised its statutory authority in referring him to another physician to ensure compliance with the October 12, 2016 Order.

**II. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION’S (APPELLATE PANEL’S) INTERLOCUTORY RULING IS NOT CURRENTLY RIPE FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT GIVEN THE FACTS: (A) IT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE “A FINAL DECISION” WITHIN THE MEANING OF S.C. CODE ANN. SECTION 1-23-380 (A) (SUPP. 2017); AND (B) THE CURRENT CIRCUMSTANCES DO NOT WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION OF THE COMMISSION’S/PANELS’ RULING, PARTICULARLY IN LIGHT OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT’S HOLDINGS IN BONE V. U.S. FOOD SERVICE, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E. 2D 552 (2013) AND HILTON V. FLAKEBOARD AMERICA LIMITED, 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E. 2D 719 (2016).**

As noted in Mr. McDuffie’s March 21, 2019 Motion to Dismiss, the Panel’s November 27, 2018 Order: (a) reaffirmed an October 12, 2016 ruling requiring Appellants to provide treatment for Mr. McDuffie’s compensable back injury component; (b) simply designates a treating physician for this injury component due to Appellants’ failure to comply with the October 12, 2016 ruling; (c) clearly does not constitute “a final decision” within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A) (Supp. 2017); and (d) is not subject to judicial review, as it unquestionably **does not** “resolve . . . the entire action.” Ex parte South Carolina Property and Casualty Guarantee Association, 411 S.C. 501, 768 S.E. 2d 670, 672 (Ct. App. 2015); Rose v. JJS Trucking, LLC, 411 S.C. 366, 768 S.E. 2d 412, 413 (Ct. App. 2015).

In this connection, . . . “Section 1-23-380 of the . . . [Administrative Procedures] Act limits appeals . . . [in this context] to those from a ‘final decision’ of the commission.” Rose, 768 S.E. 2d at 413; South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association, 768 S.E. 2d at 672. “An agency decision that does not decide the merits of a contested case is not a final agency decision subject to judicial review.” Price v. Peachtree Electrical Services, Inc., 405 S.C. 455, 748 S.E. 2d 229, 230 (2013).

As recognized by the Supreme Court in Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital Authority v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, 387 S.C. 265, 692 S.E. 2d 894-895 (2010), “a final decision” within the purview of the Administrative Procedures Act “disposes of the whole subject matter of the action or terminates the particular proceeding or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.” See also, Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E. 2d 552, 561 (2013). Consequently, “[a]n order of the commission is not a final decision unless it resolves the entire action.” Rose, *supra*; South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association, *supra*.

In this instance, the Appellate Panel has: (a) simply enforced a prior ruling that Appellants had chosen to disregard; (b) done nothing more than exercise its statutory authority to ensure the provision of treatment Mr. McDuffie has been attempting to obtain for several years; and (c) not rendered a “final decision” as to the merits of this claim, which remain unresolved pending receipt of the treatment necessary for him to attain maximum medical improvement. Once he reaches this plateau, the Commission will, at minimum, be obliged to render additional rulings as to Mr. McDuffie’s degree of residual permanent disability and entitlement to extended medical care per the provisions of Section 42-15-60.

While Appellants contend refusal to consider the merits of their appeal at this stage results in a denial of due process, “. . . [t]he fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Commission, 376 S.C. 165, 656 S.E. 2d 346, 350 (2008). “. . . [D]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protection as the particular situation demands.” Harbit v. City of Charleston, 382 S.C. 383, 675 S.E. 2d 776, 781 (Ct. App. 2009); Bundy v. Shirley, 412 S.C. 292, 772 S.E. 2d 163 (2015).

As recognized by the Supreme Court in Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 399 S.C. 566, 733 S.E. 2d 200, 201-203 (2012), judicial review in this context is generally triggered through entry of a “final judgment” per Section 1-23-380 (A). While Appellants couch their argument in terms of a denial of due process, it is respectfully submitted: (a) the “final judgment” requirement is certainly consistent with the flexibility of procedure long recognized by this Court, to the extent compliance with Section 1-23-380 (A) does not “offend due process”; (b) they have not challenged the constitutionality of this statute, but rather an effect which has been validated by this Court on more than one occasion; (c) the crux of their position is actually the absence of supersedeas in terms of Mr. McDuffie’s receipt of treatment that was initially ordered **nearly three years ago**; and (d) this focus on a nonexistent due process deprivation stems from a recognition that any notion the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-17-60 (2015) impose an undue hardship was wholly rejected by the Supreme Court in Bone, 744 S.E. 2d at 561.

Finally, the substance of this appeal: (a) is neither unique, unusual nor extraordinary; and (b) essentially involves consideration of the substantial evidence, in light of the authority vested in the Panel by Section 42-15-60. The current circumstances clearly do not meet the “hens’ teeth” standard identified in Hilton.